A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERJDECISION BELOW 

David Earl Woodlyn requests this Court grant review pursuant 

to RAP 13.4 ofthe unpublished decision ofthe Court of Appeals in 

State v. Woodlyn, No. 71311-6-I, filed March 9, 2015. A copy ofthe 

opinion is attached as an appendix. 

B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

At1icle I, section 21 ofthe Washington Constitution requires a 

unanimous jury verdict in criminal cases. When the State alleges that a 

defendant committed a crime by alternative means, the right to a 

unanimous jury is violated unless the State elects the means upon 

which it is relying or the jury is instmcted it must unanimously agree 

on a single means. In State v. Ortega-Martinez, this Court held that, 

where neither of' these options is met, reversal is required unless the 

evidence supporting each altemativc is sufficient to support the 

conviction. State v. 011ega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707-08, 881 

P.2d 231 (1994). Here, the State alleged two alternative means of 

committing second degree theft and the jury was instmcted on both 

alternatives, yet the jury was not instructed it must unanimously agree 

on a single means and the State did not elect a single means. The Court 

of Appeals acknowledged-and the State conceded-that the evidence 
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was insufficient to prove one of the charged alternatives. Nonetheless, 

the CoUii of Appeals held that the conviction need not be reversed. Is 

the Court of Appeals' holding in direct cont1ict with Ortega-Martinez 

and in violation ofMr. Woodlyn's constitutional right to jury 

unanimity, wan-anting review? RAP 13.4(b)(l), (3). 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

For several years, David Woodlyn mowed lawns and did yard 

work for people who lived near his home in West Seattle. RP 716. 

One day during summer 2011, Mr. Woodlyn was walking through a 

residential neighborhood and noticed that the lawn in t1·ont of Dora 

Kjellerson 's home needed mowing. RP 719. He knocked on her front 

door and asked if she wanted him to cut her grass. RP 719. Ms. 

Kjellerson was an elderly woman who needed help taking care ofher 

lawn and yard because both her partner and her son, who used to do the 

yard work, had recently passed away. RP 579, 598-99. 

Ms. Kjellerson agreed to allow Mr. Woodlyn to cut the grass 

and when he finished she paid him $60. RP 719-20. Mr. Woodlyn 

returned two to three weeks later and pruned Ms. Kjellerson' s trees. 

RP 721. He returned again several times that summer to cut her grass. 

RP 722. 
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Ms. Kjellerson had a Bank of America checking account and 

was a regular customer at the White Center branch. RP 606. One day, 

Mr. Woodlyn came into the bank to cash a check on Ms. Kjellerson's 

account. RP 609. The check was signed by Ms. Kjcllerson and was for 

an amount between $60 and $100. RP 610. The bank assistant 

manager called Ms. Kjellerson on the telephone and asked if she had 

written the check. lei. After speaking with Ms. Kjellerson, the assistant 

manager processed the check and gave the cash to Mr. Woodlyn. RP 

611-12. 

From July 22 to August 1 2, 20 I 1, Mr. Woodlyn cashed a total 

of seven checks on Ms. Kjellerson 's account. RP 746-51. The 

amounts of the checks varied from $60 to $440. Id. All ofthe checks 

were signed by Ms. Kjellerson but Mr. Woodlyn wrote in his name and 

the dollar amounts. RP 648-49, 676, 746-51. 

On August 27, 2011, Mr. Woodlyn accompanied Ms. Kjellerson 

to the White Center branch and asked to withdraw some money from 

her account. RP 6 1 2-13. The assistant manager asked how much 

money they needed. RP 613. According to the assistant manager, Mr. 

Woodlyn asked how much money Ms. Kjellerson had. RP 614. The 
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assistant manager refused to withdraw any money from the account. 

RP 614. She called the police. RP 684-85. 

Soon atl:erward, Ms. Kjellerson \Vas evaluated by a geriatric 

mental health specialist. RP 523-52. The evaluator concluded that Ms. 

Kjellerson had moderate to severe dementia and could no longer live 

independently without help. ld. After that, the bank froze Ms. 

Kjellerson's bank accounts. RP 583-84. 

The State charged Mr. Woodlyn with one count of second 

degree theft based on the seven checks he cashed on Ms. Kjellerson's 

account. CP 1-2. The information alleged two alternative means of 

committing the crime: that Mr. Woodlyn "did wrongfully obtain and 

exert unauthorized control" over Ms. Kjellerson's property, and that he 

''did obtain control over such property ... by color and aid of 

deception .. , CP l. 

At trial, the jury was instructed on the two alternative means. In 

the to-convict instruction, the jury was informed it could find Mr. 

Woodlyn guilty if it found beyond a reasonable doubt that, with an 

intent to deprive another ofproperty, he either (1) "wrongfully obtained 

the property of another"; or (2) "by color or aid of deception, obtained 

control over property of another." CP 72. The jury was explicitly 
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instructed it need not be unanimous as to which altemative was proved 

beyond a reasonable doubt as long as each juror found that at least one 

altemative was proved. CP 72-73. 

The jury found Mr. Woodlyn guilty of second degree theft. CP 

87. There was no special verdict form indicating which of the two 

alternative means of committing the crime the jury relied upon. 

Mr. Woodlyn appealed, arguing his constitutional right to jury 

unanimity was violated because the jury was not instructed it must be 

unanimous as to which alternative means it was relying upon and the 

State did not elect a particular means. The Court of Appeals 

acknowledged the lack of express jury unanimity. The court also 

acknowledged-and the State conceded-that the State had presented 

no evidence to support one of the charged alternatives. Slip Op. at 6. 

But the court nonetheless affirmed, characterizing the en·or as an 

instructional error subject to harmless en·or review. Slip Op. at 7-10. 
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D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

The Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard in 
concluding that the violation of Mr. Woodlyn's 
constitutional right to jury unanimity did not require 
reversal of the conviction 1 

Article I, section 21 requires a unanimous jury verdict in 

criminal cases. When the State alleges a defendant committed a crime 

by alternative means, and the jury is instructed on multiple means, the 

right to a unanimous jury requires the jury unanimously agree on the 

means by which it finds the defendant committed the offense. State v. 

Owens, 180 Wn.2d 90, 95,323 P.2d 1030 (2014). Ifthejury returns "a 

particularized expression'' as to the means relied upon for the 

conviction, the unanimity requirement is met. State v. Ortega-

Mmiinez, 124 Wn.2d 702,707-08,881 P.2d 231 (1994). But "(a] 

general verdict of guilty on a single count charging the commission of a 

crime by alternative means will be upheld only if sufficient evidence 

supports each altemative means.'' State v. Kintz, 3 169 Wn.2d 537, 

552,238 P.3d 470,477-78 (2010) (citing Ortega-Mattinez, 124 Wn.2d 

at707-08); Owens, 180 Wn.2d at 99. 

1 A similar issue is pending in this CoUit in State v. Sandholm, No. 
90246-1. 
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Two alternative means of committing theft were charged in this 

case, i.e .. by vvrongfully exerting control over someone's property, and 

by deceiving someone to give up their property. State v. Peterson, 168 

Wn.2d 763, 770, 230 P.3d 588 (2010); RCW 9A.56.020(l)(a), (b); CP 

1. 

The jury was instructed on both of the charged alternatives. The 

jury was instructed it could find Mr. Woodlyn guilty if it found either 

that he (1) "wrongfully obtained" Ms. Kjellerson's property; or that (2) 

'·by color or aid of deception," he "obtained control over" Ms. 

Kjellerson 's property. CP 72. The jury was expressly instructed it 

need not be unanimous as to which means it relied upon. CP 72-73. 

The State did not elect a particular means. Thus, in order to preserve 

Mr. Woodlyn's constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict, the 

State was required to present sufficient evidence to prove each of these 

alternatives beyond a reasonable doubt. Owens, 180 Wn.2d at 95. 

The Court of Appeals recognized the State had not presented 

any evidence that Mr. Woodlyn committed theft by "wrongfully 

obtaining" Ms. Kjcllerman 's property. Slip Op. at 6. That recognition 

requires reversal ofthe conviction. Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d at 

707-08. But rather than simply apply this Court's opinion, the Court of 
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Appeals concluded this was merely an instructional error, and thus 

applied a harmless enor analysis. Slip Op. at 7-10. That analysis is 

directly at odds with Ortega-Martinez, and therefore review is 

warranted. RAP 13. 4(b )( 1 ), ( 3). 

T'he jury was not instructed that it must unanimously agree as to 

the alternative means. Indeed, the trial court affirmatively instructed 

the jury they need not unanimously agree. CP 72-73. That instruction 

is directly contrary to this Court's repeated urging that trial courts 

should instruct on the requirement ofunanimity for alternative means 

crimes. Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 717, n.2 (citing State v. Whitney, 

108 Wn.2d 506,511,739 P.2d 1150 (1987)). In the absence ofa 

particularized finding of unanimity as to the means, Mr. Woodlyn's 

conviction must be reversed unless each alternative is supported by 

sufficient evidence. Owens, 180 Wn.2d at 99. They are not. 

It is undisputed the State did not prove Mr. Woodlyn committed 

theft by "wrongfully obtaining" Ms. Kjellerman's property. The State 

conceded as much in the CoUJ1 of Appeals, and the Court of Appeals 

agreed. Slip Op. at 6. The absence of sufficient evidence of both 

alternatives requires reversal of the conviction. Owens, 180 Wn.2d at 

95; Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d at 707-08. 
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Rather than apply this Court's analysis fi·om Otiega-Martinez to 

determine whether reversal was required, i.e., determine whether 

sutlicient evidence supported each alternative, the court instead 

engaged in a harmless-error analysis of the to-convict instruction. 

From that analysis, the court concluded that because there is 

insufficient evidence of one alternative contained in the instruction, the 

error is harmless. Slip Op. at 7-10. But as this Court has made clear, it 

is precisely the absence of sufficient evidence which establishes the 

error. lt would be a curious rule if insufficient evidence of the 

alternative both gives rise to the error and renders it harmless. 

Moreover, the impropriety of the to-convict instruction provided 

to the jury here is not at issue. Mr. Woodlyn did not challenge that 

instruction on appeal. He pointed to the improper instruction to 

demonstrate that not only was the jury not instructed it need be 

unanimous, it was instead expressly told unanimity was unnecessary. 

CP 72-73. Under this Court's clearly established precedent, because 

the State did not offer sufficient evidence to support the theft by 

wrongfully obtaining alternative, the conviction must be reversed and 

remanded for a new trial. Owens, 180 Wn.2d at 95; OrtegaMartinez, 

124 Wn.2d at 707-08. 
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E. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons given, this Court should grant review, hold Mr. 

Woodlyn's constitutional right to jury unanimity was violated, and remand 

for a new trial.