I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT 

Respondent, the State of Washington, asks this Court to deny 

the petition for review. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS. OPINION 

The Court of Appeals decision at issue is State v. Woodlyn, 

No. 71311-6-1, filed March 9, 2015 (unpublished). 

Ill. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Petitioner Woodlyn was convicted of second-degree theft with a 

vulnerable victim aggravating factor as a result of his actions involving 

76-year-old Dora Kjellerson. The facts of his crime are succinctly 

outlined in the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion attached to the 

Petition for Review. 

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

Below, Woodlyn cited to court of appeals cases that outline a 

"harmless error" standard for sufficiency problems in alternative means 

cases, and then argued the application of that standard required 

reversal in his case. In his petition however, Woodlyn reverses course 

and faults the Court of Appeals for applying the standard he cited. He 

now contends that reversal is automatic whenever there is insufficient 

evidence of one or more alternative means presented to the jury, 
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coupled with the absence of a particularized expression of unanimity. 

Because Woodlyn did not argue below the position he now asserts, 

the Court of Appeals had no occasion to consider it. As such, this 

Court should not use this case to consider the issue of a harmless 

error standard for sufficiency problems in alternative means cases. 

Moreover, the unpublished opinion in this case does not conflict 

with any published decision of the Court of Appeals, nor does it conflict 

with this Court's precedent. Review should be denied. 

only: 

A. STANDARD FOR REVIEW. 

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court 

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the 
decision of the Court of Appeals is In conflict with 
another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a 
significant question of law under the Constitution of the 
State of Washington or of the United States is involved; 
or (4) If the petition involves an Issue of substantial 
public interest that should be determined by. the 
Supreme Court. 

RAP 13.4(b). Woodlyn cites to both subsections (1) and (3) of the rule 

in support of his petition for review, but his argument appears to focus 

solely on the assertion that the Court of Appeals decision Is in conflict 

with decisional law from this Court. Although he mentions subsection 
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(3) in passing, he presents ho substantive argument as to why this 

issue is of substantial public interest. 

B. THE UNPUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT 
OF APPEALS DOES NOT WARRANT REVIEW 
UNDER RAP 13.4. 

1. Having Cited To A Harmless Error Standard In 
The Court Of Appeals, Woodlyn Cannot 
Challenge The Court's Application Of That 
Standard In His Petition For Review. 

Woodlyn argued to the Court of Appeals that the evidence was 

insufficient to support one of the alternative means of committing theft 

presented to the jury. Arguing for reversal, Woodlyn cited to lower 

court decisions outlining a harmless error standard. Specifically, 

Woodlyn asserted that the relevant standard to apply was, "If the State 

presented evidence of only one means, then the reviewing court can 

conclude the jury must have relied only upon that [properly supported] 

means in reaching a unanimous verdict." Opening Brf. of Appellant at 

12. Woodlyn then argued that the facts of his case failed to meet that 

standard. 

Now, for the first time in his petition for review, Woodlyn asserts 

that this Court's decisions in State v. Owens, 1 and State v. Ortega~ 

Martinez2 required the· Court of Appeals to automatically reverse his 

1 180 Wn.2d 90, 323 P.2d 1030 (2014). 
2 124 Wn.2d 702, 881 P.2d 231 (1994). 

~ 3-
1603·6 Woodlyn SupCt 



conviction once it determined that there was insufficient evidence to 

support one of the alternative means presented to the jury. But 

Woodlyn cannot fault the Court of Appeals for applying a standard that 

he proposed. 3 Because Woodlyn did not present the argument he 

now makes, the lower court had no occasion to consider it and Its 

opinion does not address it. 

This Court should decline to grant review of this new claim 

because it was not raised in the Court of Appeals. "An issue not 

raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals will not be considered by this 

court." State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993); 

see also Plein v. Lacky, 149 Wn.2d 214, 222, 67 P.2d 1061 (2003) 

(generally, parties cannot raise a new issue in a petition for review); 

Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P .2d 350 (1998) 

("This court does not generally consider issues raised for the first time 

in a petition for review."). Woodlyn does not acknowledge or explain 

why he made a different argument before the Court of Appeals. This 

Court should deny Woodlyn's petition and reject his attempt to raise a 

new argument for the first time in his petition for review. 

3 Woodlyn cited to Ortega-Martinez In the Court of Appeals, but he argued that it 
required reversal only when "it is possible that at least some jurors relied upon 
th[e] [unsupported] alternative in reaching their verdict." Opening Brf. of 
Appellant at 13. 
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2. The Decision Below Is Not In Conflict With A 
Decision Of This Court. 

Woodlyn argues that this Court's decisions in Owens and 

Ortega-Martinez require automatic reversal in every case where there 

is insufficient evidence to support one or more alternative means 

presented to the jury and the jury does not render a particularized 

expression of unanimity as to a properly-supported means. He 

contends that the court's decision below Is in direct contradiction to 

those cases because it affirmed his conviction even though it 

concluded that there was insufficient evidence to support one of the 

alternative means of theft. 

However, neither Owens nor Ortega-Martinez held that reversal 

is automatic in such a situation. Indeed in both cases, the court did 

not reach the issue of harmless error because no error occurred, i.e., 

sufficient evidence supported each alternative means. See Owens, 

180 Wn.2d at 101 (specifically declining to reach the issue of harmless 

error because sufficient evidence supported each alternative); Ortega-

Martinez, 124 Wn.2d at 717 (express unanimity as to means not 

required because sufficient evidence supported each alternative 

1603-6 Woodlyn SupCt 



submitted to jury). Therefore, Woodlyn's assertion that the Court of 

Appeals did not properly apply this Court's decisions in Owens and 

Ortega-Martinez is wrong. 

Indeed, this Court has never adopted Woodlyn's new argument 

-that this particular type of error can never be harmless. To the 

contrary, in State v. Bonds, 98 Wn.2d 1, 17-18,653 P.2d 1024 (1982), 

this Court determined that an instruction that permitted the jury to rely 

on an unsupported alternative means of committing first degree rape 

was harmless because, in order to reach a finding of guilt as to the 

first-degree murder charge, the jury must necessarily have 

unanimously agreed that a properly-supported theory of rape had 

been proven. 

Although Woodlyn argues that the Court of Appeals 

erroneously characterized the error as an instructional error instead of 

a unanimity error, the lower court properly recognized that it is a hybrid 

of both. See Woodlyn, Slip. Op. at 7-8. Indeed, when there is 

sufficient evidence of each alternative means presented, a jury is 

properly instructed that unanimity as to means is not required. State v. 

Whitney, 108 Wn.2d 506, 511, 739 P.2d 1150 (1987); State v. Kitchen, 

110 Wn.2d 403,410,756 P.2d 105 (1988); In re Pers. Restraint of 
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Jeffries, 110 Wn.2d 326,338,752 P.2d 1338 (1988); Ortega-Martinez, 

124 Wn.2d at 707; State v. Smith, 159 Wn.2d 778, 154 P.3d 873 

(2007); Owens, 180 Wn.2d ·at 95. Because a trial court should not 

instruct the jury on an unsupported means, the pattern instruction is a 

proper statement of the law. See comment to WPIC 4.23 (3d ed. 

2005). It is only in the absence of sufficient evidence that express 

unanimity as to means is required, and therefore use of the pattern 

Instruction in such instance becomes error. Thus, because a 

unanimity error in this context is inexorably intertwined with 

instructional error, Woodlyn mistakenly criticizes the Court of Appeals 

for citing to cases involving harmless instructional errors. See Bonds, 

98 Wn.2d at 17-18 (highlighting the interplay between unanimity error 

and instructional error in this context). The Court of Appeals' opinion 

does not conflict with a decision of this Court. 

V. CONCLUSION 

Because Woodlyn presents a new argument that the Court of 

Appeals had no occasion to address, and because he has not met the 

standard for review in RAP 13.4(b), this case Is not an appropriate 

vehicle for this Court to consider the question of harmless error when 

the jury is presented with an alternative method of committing the 
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crime that is unsupported by sufficient evidence. This Court should 

deny the petition for review.